
Kane County Regional Planning Commission 
                                                                                                                                                           
Glenn Morgenroth, Chair                          Chris Lauzen, Ex-Officio 
Sue Harney, Vice Chair              Kurt Kojzarek, Ex-Officio      
Steve Arnold                                                                               
Joseph Slawek                       
Ian Lamp                       Mark VanKerkhoff, Secretary            
Steve Persinger                                      
Tom Armstrong 
Joe White  
Esther Steel         

County Government Center 
Geneva, Illinois 60134 

      

REGULAR MEETING 
Wednesday, January 8, 2020 – 7:00 p.m. 

 

Government Center, Building A 

4th Floor Conference Room 

719 S. Batavia Ave. 

Geneva, IL 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Call Meeting to Order 

2. Roll Call  

3. Approval of Minutes: July 10, 2019 (attached) 

4. Regional Update (as needed)  

5. Kane County Planning Cooperative Updates  

a. Update, Fabulous Fox! Water Trail (Development) 

b. Fox Valley Sustainability Network Renewable Energy Forum (Development) 

c. Mill Creek Watershed Plan (Development) 

d. Farmland Protection Annual Monitoring (Development) 

e. Long Range Transportation Plan Updates (Transportation) 

f. Bike Share Updates (Transportation) 

g. Kane Kendall Council of Mayors Call for Projects (Transportation) 

h. Health Department Updates (as needed) 

i. The Convergence of Economic Development and Planning (Development) (attached) 

6. Other Business  

a. Proposed Regional Planning Commission Work Plan for 2020 (attached) 

7. Planning Division Monthly Report (attached) 

8. Public Comment 

9. Adjournment 



Minutes of the  

Kane County Regional Planning Commission Meeting 

 

Kane County Government Center 

719 S. Batavia Avenue, Building A 

Fourth Floor Conference Room, 7:00 PM 

Geneva, Illinois 60134 

 

July 10, 2019 
  

 

The Kane County Regional Planning Commission held a meeting on Wednesday, July 10, 2019, at 

7:00 PM, in the Kane County Government Center, Building A, Fourth Floor Conference Room. 

 

Regional Planning Commissioners in attendance:   

Chairman Glenn Morgenroth, Commissioners Tom Armstrong, Esther Steel, Steve 

Persinger, Steve Arnold, Joseph Slawek, Joe White 

 

Commissioners absent:  

Vice Chairman Sue Harney, Commissioners Ian Lamp 

 

Development and Community Services staff attendees:  

Director Mark VanKerkhoff 

Executive Planner Janice Hill  

Planners Matt Tansley and Chris Toth 

 

Health Department staff attendees:  

N/A 

 

Transportation Division staff attendees:  

Transportation Planner Ryan Peterson 

Intern Noah Jones 

 

Guest / Public Attendees:  

John Thornhill 

Thomas Getzelman 

John Martin 

 

 

1. Call Meeting to Order 

 

Chairman Morgenroth called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

The roll was called and a quorum was established with seven (7) voting members.  

 



3. Approval of Minutes: April 10, 2019  

 

The April 2019 minutes were approved on a motion by Commissioner Steel, seconded by 

Commissioner Persinger. The motion carried unanimously by voice vote.  

 

4. Getzelman Petition for Land Use Reclassification  

 

Planner Tansley began providing an overview of the report prepared by staff to review petitioner 

Getzelman’s request for a land use change. The three subject properties are located at the southern 

end of Hampshire Township. The petitioner is seeking a change in land use from Agriculture to 

Countryside Estate Residential. This would allow for the eventual construction of single-family 

homes on each of the two undeveloped lots. The subject properties are located at the northwest 

intersection of Lenschow Rd. and Getzelman Rd and are surrounded on all sides by other 

Agriculture land use areas. The site also sits along the northern corporate boundary of the Village of 

Burlington. Some areas of Burlington’s Future Land Use Plan call for low to medium density 

residential development in the vicinity of the subject properties.  

 

Referencing a zoning map of the area, Tansley noted that the petitioner is also seeking a zoning 

change from F District Farming to E-1 District Estate. Commissioner Arnold inquired which areas 

depicted in the map included Forest Preserve lands. Tansley clarified that the dark green areas 

denoted Forest Preserve areas.   

 

Tansley referenced a map illustrating the 2040 Land Use Map areas near the subject properties, 

which classifies the site land use as Agriculture. Further west of the site sits a grouping of properties 

which fall into the Estate Residential land use category.  

 

Tansley continued, highlighting some points from the 2040 Plan as they relate to the subject site. In 

addition to being classified as an agricultural use, the plan identifies these areas as “priority 

farmland” or “farmland of statewide importance,” a designation established by the Illinois 

Department of Agriculture. Furthermore, the plan recognizes strategies that protect farmland and 

discourage nonagricultural uses. But the plan also recognizes that some areas may not be suitable 

for agricultural activities for various reasons including soil composition, topography, and other 

factors. The subject site also falls within the westernmost corridor of Kane County’s Conceptual 

Land Use Strategy Map.  

 

Tansley went on to highlight some of the relevant objectives from the 2040 Plan. The Land Use and 

Built Environment chapter of the plan calls for reducing land consumption and conserving open 

space, promoting reinvestment in vacant or underutilized properties, and encouraging development 

in areas where infrastructure is underutilized. The Housing chapter outlines promoting a diverse and 

affordable supply of housing types and prioritizing housing that offers infill and redevelopment 

opportunities including compact, mixed use, and multi-modal development. It also calls for 

increasing walkability and reducing automobile dependence. The Agriculture Food and Farms 

chapter objectives include protecting farmland as a valuable natural resource and economically 

productive land use, and discouraging projects with a detrimental effect on agricultural lands. The 

Open Space and Green Infrastructure chapter of the plan calls for preserving Kane County’s open 

space and green infrastructure, supporting natural resource protection.  

 



Referencing the county’s Green Infrastructure Map, Tansley noted that there were few if any green 

infrastructure features identified within the bounds of the site area. Burlington Creek does run north 

to south through the Forest Preserve properties down into the Village of Burlington, including a 

creek tributary that branches off and runs along the southern border of the subject area. According 

to recent and historic aerial imagery, the creek tributary is most often dry.  

 

Despite its proximity to the corporate boundary of Burlington, the site area falls within the Village 

of Hampshire’s planning area and planning jurisdiction as established in an intergovernmental 

boundary agreement between the two municipalities. The Hampshire Future Land Use Map 

identifies the site as within an Agricultural land use area. Hampshire’s long range plan calls for 

maintaining estate and large-lot residential densities in the areas beyond the village’s boundary.  

 

For additional context, Tansley reviewed areas of Burlington’s Future Land Use Map to the south of 

the subject site. The map identified areas south of the site as a mix of low to medium density 

residential housing. According to staff conversations with Burlington officials, the Village does not 

anticipate residential densities in this area exceeding that of duplex units.  

 

Director VanKerkhoff invited the petitioner to make any additional comments. John Thornhill 

mentioned that the farm has been owned by the Getzelman family since 1911. The current owner, 

Thomas Getzelman, purchased the property in 1991 at which time the property was subdivided. 

Commissioner Armstrong asked for clarification on some of the land uses to the north and west of 

the subject site. Thornhill discussed the rezoning of a couple properties to the west of the site area, 

including one that had been rezoned to E-1 District Estate. Chairman Morgenroth asked how the 

property immediately north of the subject site is zoned. VanKerkhoff replied that it was zoned F-

District Farming.  

 

Tansley proceeded to summarize two action alternatives for the Regional Planning Commissioners 

to consider. The first option supported the approval of the petitioner’s request for a land use change. 

He summarized the points that would justify this action including: the proximity of similar land uses 

to that of the site area identified in the 2040 Plan, consistency in the transition of land uses with 

Burlington’s zoning and land use maps, and few if any Green Infrastructure Map features impacted 

by the petition. Tansley then summarized the second option, which included points that might 

justify a denial of the petitioner’s request. Under this option it was noted that the 2040 Land Use 

Plan designated the subject area as an Agriculture land use. Furthermore, the 2040 Plan emphasized 

the pursuit of strategies that discourage the conversion of productive farmland to non-agricultural 

uses. Lastly, there were some noted inconsistencies between the current land use and the proposed 

land use classification, Countryside Estate Residential, which is characterized by rolling hills, 

wetlands, creeks, or some woodlands. Based on the points considered, staff issued a 

recommendation that the commissioners approve the petitioner’s request for a land use change.  

 

VanKerkhoff provided some additional detail supporting staff’s decision recommending approval. 

He noted the presence and proximity of other large-lot residential properties to the subject site. The 

proposed rezoning of the properties to E-1 would also not alter the planned residential density of the 

site beyond what would be allowed had the site been rezoned to F-1 District Farming. The E-1 

designation would also restrict any further subdivision of the subject properties.  

 

Commissioner White requested a description of the site area’s topography and the likely orientation 

of new residential buildings to be constructed. John Thornhill noted that the land area is relatively 



flat. There were no known issues related to the topography of the area or drainage that would 

prevent homes from being sited within the eastern third of each lot, as other properties in the area 

are situated. Thornhill added that it was believed that the E-1 zoning designation would be more 

compatible and consistent with Burlington’s land use plans.  

 

Arnold expressed concern with the petitioner’s request, noting that it did not meet any of the 2040 

Plan objectives listed. However, the damage had already been done at the time it was subdivided.  

 

Steel expressed concern with the impact of the petitioner’s request on the reduction of farmland. 

While there may be consistencies with Burlington’s future land use plan, it remains to be seen 

whether it will actually be fulfilled.  

 

VanKerkhoff noted that switching to the Estate Zoning classification would not eliminate 

agriculture as an approved land use for the properties.  

 

Arnold added that he has observed situations in which succeeding generations of owners may 

transition their properties away from an agricultural use entirely in pursuit of recreational uses.  

 

Armstrong indicated his agreement with the staff recommendation. He noted the presence of similar 

land uses and developments nearby and that it seemed appropriate to view the subject properties as 

part of a transitional area.  

 

Commissioner Slawek asked which land use was predominant across the Forest Preserve properties 

to the northwest. VanKerkhoff noted that it was mostly farmland.  

 

Arnold asked if there would be implications for subsequent and similar requests for land use 

changes near the subject site. VanKerkhoff responded that the commissioners had the discretion to 

expand the area encompassed by the proposed land use change if they deemed it appropriate. 

Arnold asked what the principle differences were between the F-1 and E-1 Districts. VanKerkhoff 

replied that the E-1 District has a minimum lot size of 4 acres whereas the F-1 District has a 

minimum lot size of 1 acre. The F-1 District mandates that no farmland be taken out of production. 

Arnold asked the petitioner to clarify their preference for E-1 District versus F-1 District zoning. 

Thornhill noted that the petitioner wanted the properties to remain consistent with the municipal 

future land use plans for the area. 

 

Following discussion of the petition Commissioner Persinger requested a motion that the Regional 

Planning Commission approve the petitioner’s request for a land use change, and inclusion of said 

change in the subsequent iteration of the county’s future land use map. The motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Persinger and approved unanimously through a roll call vote.  

 

5.  Regional Update 
 

VanKerkhoff reported on some of the changes occurring with CMAP’s committee structure 

following the adoption of the ON TO 2050 Plan. The Land Use and Housing Committees were 

combined into a single committee. VanKerkhoff serves as the current chairperson of the committee, 

but expects that the committee leadership roles will rotate more frequently. He added that CMAP 

recently filled the role of its Executive Director with Erin Aleman, a former Planning Director with 

Illinois DOT. VanKerkhoff also noted that the State of Illinois recently passed a large capital bill. 



 

6. Kane County Planning Cooperative Updates 

 

a. Historic Kane County Farms 

 

Executive Planner Janice Hill provided and overview of a project the department intern had been 

working on to document and map centennial and sesquicentennial farms across the county. This 

effort is an extension of a program managed by the state that bestows special designation on farms 

of historic significance across Illinois. County staff would be looking to notify families whose farms 

may be eligible for historic designation by the state and provide technical assistance in obtaining 

designation as needed. As Hill discussed the various types of farms eligible for centennial of 

sesquicentennial designation, she shared recent photos of several.  

 

b. Kane County Division of Transportation Update 
 

Transportation Planner Ryan Peterson shared updates on recent funding sources that the county and 

municipal transportation divisions have applied for recently through the CMAP Shared Fund. This 

funding source supports eligible transportation projects with a cost of at least $5 million. One of the 

DOT projects that scored very highly was the Dauberman Rd. extension to Granart Rd., along with 

some safety improvements to the railroad crossing nearby. Peterson added that roadway projects in 

Aurora and Oswego also scored highly. The Dauberman Rd. project is expected to receive TAP 

(Transportation Alternative Program) funding to cover the bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure 

improvements.  

 

c. Bike Share Project 

 

Peterson provided an overview of the bike sharing concept and details specific to Kane County’s 

proposed bike share program. The county anticipates that the initial launch of the program in 

August of 2020 will include 12 bike share stations that would allow users to check out a bike for up 

to two hours. The county will subsidize $30,000 of the initial cost of the project, but it will be up to 

the individual municipalities to cover the ongoing cost of the program. The program will initially be 

targeted throughout the Fox River Valley to accommodate the county’s largest cities. Participating 

cities will have the opportunity to offset the cost of managing their stations through sponsorships.  

 

Hill asked if there had been a new funding source announced for the next phase of the Dauberman 

Rd. project. Peterson replied that the project was entering phase 2 and would be pursuing funding 

for construction through the Shared Fund. The submission for funding has been scored, but KDOT 

has not received confirmation that the funding proposal has been approved. Projects receiving state 

or federal funding typically require a 20% minimum local match, which imposes limitations on 

which funds qualify as a matching share.  

 

Morgenroth asked if there were any updates on the roundabout proposed for Route 47 and Plato Rd. 

Peterson responded that engineering on the project is expected to begin this year with construction 

to follow shortly thereafter. Morgenroth asked if any cost information was available on the project. 

Peterson added he would follow up with additional detail, but noted that roundabout construction is 

typically less costly than that of a lighted intersection. White asked if there were any updates on 

improvements to the intersection of Route 47 and Main St. Peterson was not aware of any updates.  

 



d. Health Department Updates 

 

A staff representative from the Health Department was not available to attend the meeting. 

VanKerkhoff highlighted some of the key functions and data resources that the Health Department 

oversees, including the Kane County Community Health Assessment. Community partners, such as 

the hospitals and nonprofit organizations, have played key roles in supporting the data collection 

and survey work lead by the Health Department. FONA International has also been a key partner 

which has hosted several community engagement workshops on behalf of the Health Department.  

 

7. Conceptual Land Use Strategy – Review of Maps 

 

VanKerkhoff highlighted a list of programs and policies impacting the Conceptual Land Use 

Strategy that the Commission helped to develop at the previous meeting. He also reviewed a 

mapping analysis conducted by Hill and GIS staffer, Tim Mescher, to measure agricultural land 

uses within each of the three CLUS corridors. The Critical Growth Area currently consists of about 

76 square miles of agricultural land, whereas the Urban corridor still includes about 12.5 square 

miles of farmland. Staff also measured the amounts of agricultural land that were either within 

incorporated or unincorporated areas. According to the mapping analysis, there are about 42 square 

miles of agricultural land within municipalities. There may be opportunities for the Commission to 

provide direction to those municipalities looking for guidance with respect to planning for their 

agricultural lands. The Village of Burlington will be receiving technical assistance from CMAP to 

update their comprehensive plan, which might be an opportunity for the county to assist a 

municipality that wants to maintain its farmland areas. VanKerkhoff continued that as staff works 

towards updating the CLUS, they will be looking for additional ways to convey the value and 

impact of agricultural lands in the county.  

 

Commissioner White asked if the Regional Planning Commission has ever worked with the Kane 

County Forest Preserve District to advance the county’s goal of preserving farmland. VanKerkhoff 

said that the RPC traditionally has not had direct interaction with the Forest Preserve. However, the 

Forest Preserve’s land acquisitions have been guided in large part by the Open Space designations 

in the county’s adopted future land use map. For deeper clarity VanKerkhoff suggested the 

possibility of having the department’s GIS technician create a mapping layer to determine what 

share of the Forest Preserve’s holdings are in an agricultural use. He added that at the staff level the 

department has been working with the Forest Preserve on initiatives to improve soil quality.  

 

Commissioner Steel asked if land controlled by the Forest Preserve could be made available to 

community initiatives and organizations involved in agriculture such as FFA, University of Illinois 

Extension, and farm to table activities. Hill noted that discussions with the Forest Preserve District 

have been ongoing. Initial efforts have focused on reviewing mapping data to identify targeted 

opportunities and build the justification for pursuing new sources of funding. 

 

VanKerkhoff noted that through its economic development engagement, staff has been building a 

better understanding of the economic value of the food and farms sector. In the state of Illinois, the 

number one manufacturing sector is food manufacturing. And across the state, Kane County ranks 

as the 4th largest food manufacturer in Illinois.  

 



8.  Other Business (as needed) 

 

There were no items under Other Business.  

 

7.  Planning Division Monthly Report 

 

VanKerkhoff highlighted that informational brochures had recently been published for the Fabulous 

Fox River Water Trial and are being distributed to promote the project.  

 

8.  Public Comment 

 

Armstrong announced that there will be a Fox Valley Sustainability Network event addressing 

transportation topics held later during the month.  

 

10.  Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Steel issued a motion to adjourn the meeting, which was seconded by Commissioner 

Persinger. The motion carried unanimously by a voice vote and the meeting adjourned at 8:19 PM. 

 



www.planning.org | American Planning Association 1

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

PAS MEMO

January/February 2017

Advancing the Economic Development Element 
in Comprehensive Plans
By Luis Núñez

Traditional economic development elements in compre-
hensive plans are outdated. From data dumps to impractical 
recommendations that do not home in on generally accepted 
economic development principles and strategies, economic 
development elements today fail to deliver the innovative 
investment strategies that should help a community capitalize 
on its unique character or assets, much less address economic 
conditions in a quickly evolving global context.

Insofar as the purpose of an economic development element 
is to convey a community’s long-term vision of what it needs 
to improve local economic conditions, planners should ensure 
that strategies and policies align with market realities. Planners 
are increasingly being charged with more decisions that have 
a direct impact on economic development outcomes beyond 
typical land-use and development regulations, but they may 
find themselves unprepared to tackle economic development in 
the context of a comprehensive plan. The result may be a list of 
action items that do little to advance the local economy. 

This PAS Memo underscores ways that planners can advance 
the economic development element of a comprehensive plan. 
One particular way is to focus more on outlining possible mar-
ket-based strategies in the plan. While a market-based approach 
will not alone fix everything that ails a community, it can lead 
to a list of more actionable items and, therefore, a better use of 
a community’s time, money, and resources spent on a compre-
hensive plan, particularly the economic development element. 

What Is Economic Development?
For the purposes of this Memo, economic development will 
be defined using the International Economic Development 
Council’s (IEDC 2000) focus on three major areas:

•	 Policies that governments undertake to meet broad 
economic objectives including inflation control, high 
employment, and sustainable growth.

•	 Policies and programs to provide services including 
building highways, managing parks, and providing medi-
cal access to the disadvantaged.

•	 Policies and programs explicitly directed at improving 
the business climate through specific efforts, business fi-

Figure 1. Before- and after-planning conditions in downtown  
Florence, South Carolina. Courtesy Kendig Keast Collaborative.



2 American Planning Association | www.planning.org

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

nance, marketing, neighborhood development, business 
retention and expansion, technology transfer, real estate 
development, and others.

It is clear from the definition that planners do and will 
continue to play a pivotal role in all three major areas. The real 
issues are how much of a role planners should play and what 
are the best opportunities for planners to genuinely influence 
economic development outcomes. The answer lies in the 
importance of the comprehensive plan and, in particular, the 
ability of planners and/or the consultant team to help identify 
ways that the plan can lead to job creation, job retention, tax 
base diversification, and quality of life. 

In doing so, it is also important that planners recognize two 
things. First, a shotgun approach will not work. Second, there 
is no single strategy, policy, program, etc., that will solve all 
economic development concerns. Hence, while comprehen-
sive plans are indeed “comprehensive” in nature and the perfect 
opportunity for planners to help piece together the complex 
economic development puzzle, planners and their consultant 
teams fall short on this element when they overanalyze or 
oversimplify these issues in the comprehensive plan — failings 
seen far too often.

Common Components of Economic  
Development Elements
The following section lays out common components of eco-
nomic development elements in comprehensive plans and 
describes their importance.

•	 Data. Ask anyone directly in the economic development 
field what is critical to business attraction and they will 
typically agree that data, particularly in the context of a 
competitive assessment, is absolutely essential. Data in 
comprehensive plans typically takes the form of location 
quotients, general workforce characteristics, retail sales 
volumes, income characteristics, and other Census-de-
rived data. Data is used as a means to justify or consider 
key economic development indicators in the context of a 
community’s long-range economic outlook.

•	 Land-Use Connection. First and foremost, the eco-
nomic development element generally ties land-use 
decisions made during the comprehensive planning 
process to economic development goals and objectives. 
These goals and objectives also help tie other elements 
together, such as utility, infrastructure, and transporta-
tion investments. Transit-oriented development (TOD) 
is one relevant example in which decisions about future 
land use and character lay the framework for economic 
development. The regulatory outcomes of comprehen-
sive plan implementation should result in an environ-
ment that is more favorable to achieve certain economic 
development goals or targets.

•	 Policies. Typical economic development elements 
consider a general set of policies that help guide de-
cision-making bodies, especially elected or appointed 
officials, in the future implementation phase. The intent 
is that the policies will help build consensus around the 
community’s bottom line. A typical policy incorporated 

Figure 2. Economic development tools in comparison communities. Courtesy Kendig Keast Collaborative.



www.planning.org | American Planning Association 3

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

in economic development elements is one that empha-
sizes diversification of the local tax base, which is usually 
manifested in the future land-use plan as a mix of land 
uses and character types that support a robust economy.

•	 Programs. Programmatic recommendations are consid-
ered essential to economic development elements. The 
purpose of developing a list of programs is to facilitate 
plan implementation. Programs typically range from those 
that promote travel and tourism to those that focus on in-
fill development or redevelopment. Infrastructure projects 
critical to economic development are typically laid out in 
the context of a capital improvement program. 

•	 Tools. Planners are very familiar with tools. You need a 
toolbox well-equipped with the latest and greatest of 
tools to help you achieve planning for economic devel-
opment success (Figure 2, p. 2). Typically incorporated 
into economic development elements are such tools as 
tax increment finance (TIF) and other types of special 
district financing. These are usually developed at a very 
visionary level, but may be tied directly to an area where 
using such a tool could prove beneficial. Also included 
may be lists of grant opportunities that planners can 
leverage to implement plans in an expedited manner, 
thereby overcoming typical financial barriers.

While the list of components above is not meant to be 
all-inclusive, it does highlight the past and present state of 
economic development elements in comprehensive plans. 

Common Problems and Better Approaches 
The section below details common problems with economic 
development elements and proposes a corresponding better 
approach. While it is impossible to cover every problem, the 
intent is to address some of the more prevalent ones with ap-
proaches that may expedite evolving economic development 
content in comprehensive plans.

Problem 1 – Recommendations without Economic  
Development Context
Long-range recommendations are typically based on assump-
tions about population and other demographic indicators. On 
the other hand, economic development decisions are strategic 
or tactical in nature. The problem and challenge for planners 
is that economic developers operate on year-to-year strategic 
work plans as opposed to long-range or more visionary plans. 

For economic developers, it is very difficult to predict with 
certainty what business retention and expansion activity or 
looming business recruitment prospect might generate desir-
able economic development activity, much less when this will 
occur. While economic development agencies with strategic 
plans may include some long-term investment strategies, most 
are short-term investment strategies intended to yield the 
highest return on investment. 

Along these lines, even in comprehensive plans, rec-
ommendations are rarely well-integrated; there is, in fact, a 
philosophical struggle within the planning field as to which 

element impacts other elements the most. In other words, do 
land use decisions set the stage for transportation and other 
element decisions or vice versa? Which has a greater influence 
on comprehensive planning? How should planners integrate 
and prioritize certain recommendations over others to create 
tangible, high-return results?

Better Approach 1 – A Market Analysis Creates a Defensible 
Baseline for all Comprehensive Plan Recommendations
Not only does a market analysis provide a defensible baseline for 
all comprehensive plan recommendations, it can also help focus 
planners and their consultant teams on strategies and recom-
mendations that yield a faster return. This newfound focus on 
higher-impact and higher-return recommendations may subse-
quently better integrate land-use, infrastructure, and transporta-
tion elements within the economic development element. 

Planners should carefully consider a market analysis at the 
onset of the comprehensive plan process (a good example is 
highlighted later in this Memo). While a full-scale analysis is not 
necessary for the purposes of a comprehensive plan, it is critical 
to highlight contextual market forces that may or may not play a 
role in a community’s future economy. Not only is this approach 
bridging the communication gap with economic developers, 
it is also advancing planning practice with a greater focus and 
better understanding of the economic development context.

In general, a market analysis can serve to provide a reality 
check for the remainder of the planning process and ties other 
elements together. For example, a community trying to figure 
out why there is not more supply of single-family residences at 
certain price points, despite knowing there is growing demand 
based on population projections, may consider a trade area 
analysis that considers other influential market factors beyond 
the typical 5, 10, and 15-minute drive times to also account for 
other factors that set the local supply and demand conditions. 
In other cases, a market analysis works by considering the sum 
of a variety or mix of industries, such as residential, office, com-
mercial, and industrial. This targeted analysis should be done to 
make plans defensible, thereby making conclusions and public 
investment decisions in capital projects more justifiable be-
cause they are grounded on market realities that also influence 
decisions by prospective private investors.

Problem 2 – Immediate Recommendation-Mode  
and Data Dump 
The economic development element tends to jump right into 
recommendations and financing strategies. To further exac-
erbate this problem, the data highlighted or used as indica-
tor data is either already known by those in the community 
directly involved in economic development practice or is not 
practical or sufficiently relevant in the local context. 

Traditional economic development indicators, such as 
median household income and sales tax revenues, do little to 
integrate or address projects that could have a catalytic econom-
ic development effect. Again, the economic development focus 
must be on high-impact and high-return solutions, but irrelevant 
or incorrect data will lead to the wrong recommendations. 



4 American Planning Association | www.planning.org

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

Better Approach 2 – Find Locally Relevant and  
Quality Data First 
Quality data is crucial to economic development decisions, 
particularly on-the-ground data. To help with the search for 
quality local data, economic development practitioners today 
are turning more often to real estate data for such decisions; in 
many cases, they are playing the role of a “quality master devel-
oper.” To gain a better understanding of this trend, it behooves 
planners to familiarize themselves with the following resources:

•	 Esri Business Analyst: The GIS mapping tool Business 
Analyst puts you in a business person’s shoes by enabling 
you to look at the information behind major business 
location decisions. This can be a particularly useful 
information resource for communities in need of a better 
retail attraction strategy.

•	 CoStar: CoStar is a powerful “real-time” information 
resource to help with market analytics (Figure 3). In 
particular, it allows you to understand underlying supply, 
demand, vacancy, and rent conditions at the submarket 
level, and job growth and asset pricing at the market 
level. These are the conditions behind major investment 
decisions.

•	 LoopNet: Similar to CoStar, LoopNet provides “real-time” 
information with an emphasis on commercial properties. 
If you are planning for redevelopment or reuse of com-
mercial properties, this is your best resource.

•	 Salesforce: Salesforce is a popular customer relationship 
management software program used by economic de-
velopment professionals worldwide. The main benefit for 
economic developers is that Salesforce is a cloud-based 
solution, allowing economic developers to track the 
on-the-ground data more easily. Another benefit is that 
Salesforce is a cloud-based solution allowing economic 
developers the ability to maintain their lead and pros-
pect database on the run. 

•	 Economic Development Administration (EDA): This is 
a great economic development resource, especially for 
identifying funding opportunities. Aligning a communi-
ty’s economic development data with strategic planning 
requirements outlined on the EDA website will better 
position a community to receive EDA funding. 

The caveat here is that while it is important to have access 
to quality data, qualitative approaches to economic develop-
ment are just as critical (see Problem 3). In other words, while 
data can be used to develop thorough analyses, planners must 
avoid overanalysis that does not support the intent of a com-
prehensive plan. Again, the emphasis here is on better quality 
data to arrive at broader, qualitative conclusions regarding local 
economic outlooks.

Problem 3 – The Public Engagement Paradox 
A comprehensive planning process would not be complete 

Figure 3. Table showing the Metro Nashville office market using data from CoStar. Courtesy Kendig Keast Collaborative.

http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/extensions/business-analyst/whats-business-analyst.htm
http://www.costar.com
http://www.loopnet.com
https://www.salesforce.com
http://www.eda.gov


www.planning.org | American Planning Association 5

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

without extensive community engagement. Maximizing public 
input is, of course, key to any comprehensive plan that truly 
reflects the community’s will and vision. However, in an eco-
nomic development context, the problem with this approach 
is threefold. 

First, having a large number of participants might ac-
tually undermine a meaningful discussion of long-range 
concerns by only highlighting the issues and needs of those 
participants able to attend public input meetings during the 
planning process. Second, it can be too time-consuming and 
costly to engage certain members of the community, and 
a project scope might not allow for additional and perhaps 
more targeted public engagement meetings. While plan-
ners and consultants are adept at overcoming this problem 
through less costly engagement mechanisms, often plans 
still do not reflect their efforts to overcome limited public 
involvement. Third, and perhaps most relevant to economic 
development, is the problem that large public input meet-
ings that are typical of comprehensive plans do not provide 
the confidential setting necessary to engage economic 
development leaders.  
 
Better Approach 3 – Engage Economic Development 
Leaders in the Right Setting 
To avoid alarming economic development leaders who 
require a more confidential setting, focus on identifying those 
leaders and reaching out to them with a different engage-
ment approach. Focus groups or one-on-one interviews are 
better approaches. 

In the economic development realm, tax advisors, brokers, 
and lenders hold absolutely essential on-the-ground data. A 
broker, for example, may have key information regarding who 
is looking to purchase a key property, while a lender might 
hold critical information as to why financing on a project 
failed for a prospective investor. The lender might also be able 
to share pivotal strategies to help bridge financial gaps. Even 
better, they are typically very willing to provide such informa-
tion in a manner that can save planners and consultants time 
and money. 

Economic development practitioners know the power of 
maintaining strong relationships with tax advisors, brokers, 
and lenders. In communities where there is not a point person 
spearheading economic development efforts, planners and 
their consultant teams must figure out ways to reach these 
stakeholders during the comprehensive planning process. 
Doing so will have a profound effect on the quality of the eco-
nomic development element.

Problem 4 – Overreliance on “Best Practices”
Economic development elements cover best practices, and 
this is widely accepted planning practice. In many cases, best 
practices range from clustering to incentives. Most elements 
seemingly almost do this to a predictable fault, though. Either 
the “best practices” are not really applicable locally, or the 
general economic development strategies seem resistant to 
innovation — a staple of economic development prowess.

Better Approach 4 – Cover Technological Advances
Instead of focusing on the best practice through the lens of a 
community applying the best practice, do the reverse. Start by 
focusing on the meaning of the best practice with an emphasis 
on how it applies locally. Is it innovative? How does it transcend 
current economic development practice? Does the best practice 
solve problems and needs discussed in other elements? Further-
more, is it a truly “comprehensive” practice, meaning it resolves sev-
eral problems and needs with one specific approach? A current 
example of an innovative approach to tackling modern economic 
development needs is the widespread implementation of a fiber 
optic network, which could result in widespread economic devel-
opment benefits for an entire community and region.

Problem 5 – Coverage of Economic Development Under 
the Wrong Element
Addressing economic development policies or strategies in 
comprehensive plan elements other than the economic devel-
opment element is another common problem. A quick survey 
of different comprehensive plans developed in the last 20–25 
years easily shows this problem. Typically policies with import-
ant economic development impacts, particularly those related 
to utilities and infrastructure policies, are not properly taken 
into account in the economic development element. 

While it may seem obvious that certain policies or strategies 
would clearly fall under the purview of one comprehensive 
plan element versus another, it may be time for a paradigm 
shift. The high-impact, high-return focus ought to apply here. 
For example, where is it best to discuss revitalization of old 
commercial corridors? The transportation element or perhaps 
the land-use element? Do corridors deserve their own plan? 
A better approach lies in addressing topics, such as corridor 
revitalization, under the purview of economic development. 

Better Approach 5 – Innovation through Integration 
More traditional elements, such as land use, infrastructure, and 
transportation, may no longer be the best place to address 
more complex long-range planning issues that may require 
more than one solution. It behooves planners to consider 
new ways that the economic development element can more 
carefully innovate through better integration of all elements. 
In particular, planners should consider ways that the economic 
development element can serve to tie all other elements to-
gether in a much more locally innovative and relevant manner 
beyond traditional approaches. Towards this end, using the 
high-impact, high-return test might prove beneficial towards 
advancing the economic development element.

Other Considerations that Improve Upon  
Traditional Approaches
While there is no magical approach to planning for econom-
ic development, the following section highlights additional 
considerations that might help planners improve traditional 
approaches. The intent is not only to show that many possible 
solutions exist, but to lay the foundation for planners and con-
sultants to elevate the discussion to a new and innovative level. 



6 American Planning Association | www.planning.org

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

Regional and Global Contexts 
Unlike other elements that consider existing conditions and 
future plans in the context of a planning area, economic develop-
ment should be viewed well beyond the planning area or urban 
growth boundary. Economic development occurs in the global 
context, where being a good regional player goes a long way to 
ensuring long-term economic prosperity. Economic development 
elements must provide some explanation regarding the role a 
community plays in the global and regional context, regardless of 
a community’s size, location, and long-term objectives.

Development and Redevelopment Strategies 
While development and redevelopment strategies have tradi-
tionally been expressed generally in the context of infill strate-
gies and capital investments that may motivate development 
or redevelopment activity, in many communities these have 
evolved from recommendations into very strategic efforts. 
An economic development element is the best fit to address 
high-impact, high-return plans. While this does not have to 
reach as far as an economic development strategic plan, this is 
a good opportunity for planners and economic developers to 
join forces and make their cases for action stronger. 

Market Context 
As mentioned in Better Approach 1, conducting a market 
assessment early in the planning process, perhaps during the 
initial existing conditions analysis phase of a comprehensive 
plan, is critical for future baseline planning assumptions and 
considerations. While it is not necessary to conduct a full-scale 
market analysis, especially in smaller markets, it is critical that 
planners understand the local market/submarket context. 
Doing so can help pave the way to better integration of all 
comprehensive plan elements around land use and charac-
ter strategies that are ultimately more actionable during the 
implementation phase. 

There are three key reasons for performing a market over-
view or analysis:

•	 It provides a “reality check” throughout the planning 
process

•	 It ensures that land use and other element decision-mak-
ing policies and strategies are grounded in market and 
economic reality

•	 It offers an independent, third-party “story to tell” to pub-
lic and private development and/or investment partners

More Time and Budget-Consumptive Market Considerations

These more-involved market considerations could prove bene-
ficial to planners, particularly for those with the adequate time 
and budget. 

 
•	 Physical Barriers: What is the presence of certain phys-

ical barriers, including highways, arterials and significant 
structures that influence driving and shopping patterns?

•	 Location of Possible Competition: What are potential-
ly competitive projects that could diminish market share 
available to projects within the community?

•	 Proximity to Population and/or Employment Con-
centrations (Clusters): What are potential nearby con-
centrations of population and households that support 
certain types of real estate projects?

•	 Zoning: Is there a restrictive or favorable regulatory 
environment that will influence a developer’s interest in 
delivering projects to one location versus another? Are 
zoning regulations having unintended consequences?

•	 Market Factors: What are the conditions in the com-
munity that set sale and lease prices, influence a devel-
oper’s interest, or impact a project’s revenue potential 
and/or value?

•	 Drive Times, Spending and Commuting Patterns: 
What are the habits and patterns that have been estab-
lished that could impact the project’s ability to capture 
market share?

Planners may find the following resources helpful in learning 
more about market analyses methodologies and components. 

•	 Urban Land Institute (ULI) Emerging Trends in Real 
Estate Annual Report: Undertaken jointly by Pricewa-
terhouseCoopers (PwC) and ULI, this annual report is a 
leading primer for everything market-related. Not only 
can you download the report and gain valuable market 
insight for free, but you can also get a sneak peek at fac-
tors or trends that will drive future investment decisions. 

•	 ULI Real Estate Development: Principles and Process 
5th Edition (for sale): This is perhaps one of the more 
thorough primers on market analyses. Again, under-
standing the real estate development process is synon-
ymous with understanding market analyses methodolo-
gies and components.

•	 Jones Lang Lasalle (JLL): As one of the top professional 
financial and professional services firms in the world spe-
cializing in commercial real estate and investment man-
agement, JLL provides a wealth of direct market analysis 
information. As is the case in many markets, they do the 
analysis for you. While the ULI report provides a good 
starting point, JLL is easily another must-see resource. 

•	 Council of Development Finance Agencies (CDFA): 
While this resource does not explicitly cover market anal-
ysis, it addresses essential financing mechanisms with an 
eye for leveraging public and private dollars to help meet 
today’s development finance needs. This resource will 
help planners choose the right public financial mecha-
nisms to address private financial gaps.

http://uli.org/research/centers-initiatives/center-for-capital-markets/emerging-trends-in-real-estate/
http://uli.org/research/centers-initiatives/center-for-capital-markets/emerging-trends-in-real-estate/
http://uli.org/press-release/fifth-edition-best-selling-textbook-real-estate-development/
http://uli.org/press-release/fifth-edition-best-selling-textbook-real-estate-development/
http://www.us.jll.com/united-states/en-us/research
https://www.cdfa.net/


www.planning.org | American Planning Association 7

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

A market overview should, at minimum, look to answer the 
following long-range planning questions:

•	 Is the community interested in identifying market voids 
or opportunities that are there today, or a market the 
community seeks to attract in the future?

•	 Is there demand in the community?
•	 What would it take to create a favorable investment 

environment?
•	 What is the regional impact or impact to surrounding 

communities?

See sidebar (p. 6) for additional considerations planners 
incorporate within a market analysis if time and budget resources 
permit. 

Innovative Economic Development Elements  
Paving the Way
Although there are a growing number of communities taking 
more thoughtful and effective approaches to writing their 
economic development elements, these communities and one 
state are genuinely paving the way for innovation.

Frisco, Texas 
Frisco, a suburban fringe community outside of Dallas, 
recently updated and adopted its new comprehensive plan 
in 2015. Among the highlights is a new component not 
originally in its 2006 plan. In the new economic development 
element are a series of policy statements that genuinely tie all 
other elements together. 

A critical emphasis in the plan is the connection between 
future land-use recommendations and a market analysis 
conducted as the foundation to help make decisions about 
future land-use and character types. A detailed market analysis 
is provided as an appendix to the comprehensive plan that 
assesses the following:

•	 Current and future industry trends that may affect 
growth in Frisco

•	 Demographic and psychographic trends in Frisco and its 
surrounding trade area

•	 Market supply and demand dynamics that will deter-
mine Frisco’s share of future growth (residential, retail, 
office, and industrial)

Pearland, Texas 
Pearland is a fast-growing community south of Houston. Old 
perceptions of the city as a bedroom community started to 
change after the community focused on implementation of 
targeted strategies. Pearland 20/20: Blueprint for Pearland, 
Texas Strategic Plan is the culmination of such efforts. The 
seamless integration of the strategic plan with a 2015 update 
to the comprehensive plan was made possible by directly 
involving economic development personnel in the planning 
process, particularly the element dedicated to economic 
development. While the strategic plan does not cover issues 

on a parcel-by-parcel or district-by-district level, it sets a broad 
framework for making those decisions. The Pearland com-
prehensive plan is an excellent example of leveraging other 
studies (as existing assets) and human capital efficiently.

Murfreesboro, Tennessee 
Murfreesboro is a fast-growing community southeast of Nash-
ville. Although the comprehensive plan is not yet adopted, a 
draft economic development element does well in dealing 
with Problem No. 4. The element does this by stressing place-
based strategies rather than traditional best practices. There 
is also a strategic focus rather than a shotgun approach to 
economic development. In fact, one of the focal points in the 
element is a deliberate focus on continued public and private 
investment in innovative clusters throughout the communi-
ty, such as the proposed Middle Tennessee State University 
Innovation District, Downtown, and the potential I-24 Aviation 
Corridor (Figure 4, p. 8).

Wisconsin 
Wisconsin has state-enabling legislation in the form of a Smart 
Growth Law, which is very similar to Washington’s Growth 
Management Act. As a result of this law, there is very specific 
guidance in the state of Wisconsin on how to prepare the eco-
nomic development element of a comprehensive plan. In the 
U.S., this is the exception rather than the norm. In the guidance 
document is valuable information that other municipalities 
can follow closely. 

Although the guidance may lead to uniformity and therefore 
less ingenuity, the document offers general guidance appli-
cable to all local governments. More importantly, the guiding 
document stresses the purpose of an economic development 
element as being “about working together to maintain a strong 
economy by creating and retaining desirable jobs, which pro-
vide a good standard of living for individuals” (WEDI 2003). This 
recognition is important because it emphasizes the increasingly 
important role of economic development in public policy deci-
sion making. Furthermore, the guiding document sets the tone 
for arguments in support of a market assessment, by suggesting 
that an element “reflect current market conditions.”

Other Actions to Help Planners Further Advance  
Economic Development Elements
This section lays out two areas in which planners can take 
practical actions to improve their economic development 
elements either as part of a comprehensive plan update or an 
overhaul (or creation from scratch) of an economic develop-
ment element: developing an appropriate scope of work when 
preparing for this process and engaging the right stakeholders 
throughout the process itself. 

Scope of Work 
When advertising for a consultant for a comprehensive plan 
update, develop the RFQ/RFP scope of work with more atten-
tion to the economic development element. Your economic 
development content will only be as good as what is written in 

http://www.ci.frisco.tx.us/1064/Comprehensive-Plan
http://www.pearland2020.com/Pearland2020/Plan-Overview.aspx/
http://www.pearland2020.com/Pearland2020/Plan-Overview.aspx/
http://www.murfreesborotn.gov/DocumentCenter/View/3151
http://www.wi-edi.org/docs/WEDI-ED-Handbook.pdf
http://www.wi-edi.org/docs/WEDI-ED-Handbook.pdf


8 American Planning Association | www.planning.org

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

stantive manner.
 � Write down specific economic development-related 

questions to ask prospective consultant teams.
 � Beware of the quantitative trap; focus on qualitative 

measures, too.
 � Call different planning firms and get to know their 

economic development specialists directly.
•	 Familiarize yourself with real estate terminology and use 

Figure 4. Economic development opportunities in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. Courtesy Kendig Keast Collaborative.

a scope of work, unless, of course, amendments are discussed 
with a consultant during an engagement.

•	 Do your homework.
 � Reach out to economic development staff and key 

stakeholders within your community.
 � Research different planning firms that have the 

capacity to address economic development in a sub-



www.planning.org | American Planning Association 9

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

key words to adequately express your economic devel-
opment element needs (i.e., demand, supply, price per 
square foot, rents, absorption rates, leakage, development 
pro forma, etc.). Keep in mind that you need to let consul-
tant teams know in advance that you will expect them to 
place an emphasis on this element, or economic develop-
ment will not receive the quality attention it deserves. 

•	 Elaborate on the approach section; include reaching out 
to those suggested in this Memo as part of the overall 
community engagement strategy.

•	 Develop selection criteria that details desirable economic 
development element outcomes (i.e., quantitative and 
qualitative measures).

Public Engagement 
Reconsider how you use traditional public engagement 
approaches in the comprehensive planning process, especially 
when seeking input on economic development issues. It is 
easy to place blame on planners or consultant teams when 
public engagement approaches and overall lack of participa-
tion do not yield sufficient and quality information. 

An underrated approach in community engagement is the 
focus group. Focus groups involve confidential group interviews. 
Due to highly sensitive financial information and need for con-
fidentiality in the economic development realm, using this ap-
proach as part of an engagement strategy could prove extreme-
ly beneficial and is perhaps a more efficient way to improve an 
economic development content in comprehensive plans. 

Below is a list of recommended focus group participants 
with brief summaries of the benefits planners can gain from 
their involvement. In general, though, all will play a critical role 
in providing valuable market insights that could help planners 
and consultant teams develop practical, actionable plans.

•	 Business and Property Owners: While including this 
group this could easily become unmanageable, one 
way of handling it is to consider a targeted one-on-one 
interview instead. Either could work depending on the 
size of the group. A more manageable size is probably 
between three and five, but no more than that, unless 
the community is very large (200,000 plus). Business and 
property owners have their eyes on the ground and any 
economic development plan will certainly affect them. It 
is wise to develop a good way for getting them involved 
early and throughout the entire planning process. If it 
is difficult to set up one-on-one interview with them, 
engage them through a comprehensive plan advisory 
committee (Figure 5, p.10).

•	 Brokers: Brokers and real estate agents can lend a 
hand in the development of practical solutions to land-
use and development regulation issues undermining 
economic development. They can also provide valuable 
information on why certain real estate transactions work 
seamlessly and why others encounter many more prob-
lems, particularly land development barriers.

•	 Lenders: Public and private lenders should be engaged 

early. They are often willing and open regarding general 
strategies that could help with any planning process, par-
ticularly ways to overcome barriers to development and/or 
redevelopment. They can help develop sound fiscal policies, 
particularly those geared towards the provision of incen-
tives, based on their expertise in the area of gap financing.

•	 Developers: Early buy-in from developers will provide 
critical insights into their financial strategies. A com-
munity’s strategies do not need to revolve around their 
strategies, but knowing how they think regarding the 
feasibility of delivering certain projects can genuinely 
inform local economic development strategies and pol-
icies. Developers can also network in a nonthreatening 
environment to deliver unique products to a community 
in need of precedent-setting projects.

•	 Public and Institutions: This is a group that is particu-
larly underrated in terms of property ownership. Schools 
and religious institutions generally own large parcels 
of land in almost every community, regardless of size. 
Their ownership can be leveraged in economic develop-
ment strategies revolving around the acquisition and/
or disposition of key assets. Often times public-public 
partnerships get lost in the midst of all the talk about 
public-private partnerships; however, if carefully en-
gaged, public agencies might hold the key to unlocking 
hidden economic development potential.

Conclusion
Improving the economic development element of a compre-
hensive plan requires a paradigm shift in the way we think 
about planning practice. Much maligned plans that are overly 
visionary or “collect dust on a shelf” are not the result of innova-
tion, which is something essential to economic development. 

Planners have long been at the center of transformative 
community concepts. At the same time, they have been at the 
center of criticism for concepts that never come to fruition. 
The economic development element provides planners and 
their consultant teams an opportunity to change this by 
demonstrating how an economic development element has a 
quantitative and qualitative return on investment. 

One way to measure return on investment is to measure 
the level of private investment after plan adoption, particularly 
highlighting tangible results. Insofar as the element stays flex-
ible enough to respond to market conditions that will change 
over the course of its implementation, return on investment is 
indeed inevitable. 

A term used frequently in the economic development 
world is “catalyst.” Planners and their consultant teams are the 
catalyst to usher in a new era in comprehensive planning. To 
do so, they will need to evolve traditional economic develop-
ment content into something more actionable by leveraging 
market forces and players easily within reach in an evolving 
global economy. 

About the Author
Luis Núñez is a senior associate with Kendig Keast Collabora-



10 American Planning Association | www.planning.org

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

tive. He has extensive planning and economic development 
experience spanning the public, private, and nonprofit sectors, 
including previous work for APA’s Planning Advisory Service. 
His practice has included, among others, emphasis on the im-
plementation of comprehensive and strategic plans, redevel-
opment, corridor revitalization strategies, and tax diversification 
policies. Núñez is currently working towards CEcD (Certified 
Economic Developer) accreditation. He can be reached at 
www.kendigkeast.com or at luis@kendigkeast.com.

References 
Frisco (Texas), City of. 2015. Frisco 2015 Comprehensive Plan 
Update. www.ci.frisco.tx.us/1064/Comprehensive-Plan 

International Economic Development Council. 2000. Economic 
Development Reference Guide. www.iedconline.org/clientup-
loads/Downloads/IEDC_ED_Reference_Guide.pdf

Murfreesboro (Tennessee), City of. 2015. Murfreesboro 2035 
Comprehensive Plan. www.murfreesborotn.gov/Document-
Center/View/3151 

Pearland (Texas), City of. 2015. Pearland 2015 Comprehen-
sive Plan Update. www.pearland2020.com/Pearland2020/
Plan-Overview.aspx/ 

Wisconsin Economic Development Institute (WEDI). 2003. 
A Guide to Preparing the Economic Development Element of a 
Comprehensive Plan. www.wi-edi.org/docs/WEDI-ED-Hand-
book.pdf

APA Resources
Anderson, Larz T. 1995. Guidelines for Preparing Urban Plans. 

Figure 5.  Comprehensive plan advisory committee’s economic development priorities in Victoria, Texas. Courtesy Kendig Keast  
Collaborative.

http://www.kendigkeast.com
mailto:luis@kendigkeast.com
http://www.ci.frisco.tx.us/1064/Comprehensive-Plan
http://www.iedconline.org/clientuploads/Downloads/IEDC_ED_Reference_Guide.pdf
http://www.iedconline.org/clientuploads/Downloads/IEDC_ED_Reference_Guide.pdf
http://www.murfreesborotn.gov/DocumentCenter/View/3151
http://www.murfreesborotn.gov/DocumentCenter/View/3151
http://www.pearland2020.com/Pearland2020/Plan-Overview.aspx/
http://www.pearland2020.com/Pearland2020/Plan-Overview.aspx/
http://www.wi-edi.org/docs/WEDI-ED-Handbook.pdf
http://www.wi-edi.org/docs/WEDI-ED-Handbook.pdf


www.planning.org | American Planning Association 11

PAS MEMO — JANUARY/FEBRUARY 2017

Chicago: American Planning Association.

Moore, Terry,  Stuart Meck, and James Ebenhoh. 2006. An Eco-
nomic Development Toolbox: Strategies and Methods. Planning 
Advisory Service Report No. 541. Chicago: American Planning 
Association. 

Other Resources 
International Economic Development Council. 2011. Economic 
Development Strategic Planning. Washington: International 
Economic Development Council.

International Economic Development Council. 2011. Real 
Estate Development and Reuse. Washington, D.C.: International 
Economic Development Council.

Koven, Steven G., and Thomas S. Lyons. 2003. Economic Devel-
opment: Strategies for State and Local Practice. Washington, D.C.: 
International City/County Management Association.

Corrigan, Mary Beth, et al. 2005. Ten Principles for Successful Pub-
lic/Private Partnerships. Washington, D.C.: Urban Land Institute. 
Available at http://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/2005/01/
TP_Partnerships.pdf. 

Copyright © American Planning Association 2017. All Rights 
Reserved. PAS Memo (ISSN 2169-1908) is published by the 
American Planning Association, 205 N. Michigan Ave., Ste. 
1200, Chicago, IL 60601. James M. Drinan, jd, Executive Director; 
David Rouse, aicp, Managing Director of Research and Advisory 
Services; Ann F. Dillemuth, aicp, Editor. 

PAS Memo is a bimonthly online publication of APA’s  
Planning Advisory Service; learn more at www.planning.org/pas.

http://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/2005/01/TP_Partnerships.pdf
http://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/2005/01/TP_Partnerships.pdf


Kane County Regional Planning Commission 

 
                                                                                                                                                     
Glenn Morgenroth, Chair           Christopher J. Lauzen, Ex-Officio 
Steve Arnold              John Martin, Ex-Officio 
Tom Armstrong                                                               
Ian Lamp 
Steve Persinger               Mark D. VanKerkhoff, Secretary 
Joseph Slawek 
Esther Steele 
Joe White 

 
County Government Center 

719 S. Batavia Avenue 
Geneva, Illinois 60134 

          

 

MEMO 
 

 
Date: January 3, 2020 
 
To: Kane County Regional Planning Commission 
 
From: Mark D. VanKerkhoff, Director, Kane County Development & Community Services  
 
Re: Proposed Regional Planning Commission Work Plan for 2020 

 
 
Being the first meeting of the New Year and New Decade, the following outlines a proposed 
work plan for the Regional Planning Commission for the next twelve months. 
 
Item 1:  Prepare and share data as a report on the Kane County 2020 Land Resource 
Management Plan. 
 
Staff recommends that time be allocated to review the goals and projections included in the 
Kane County 2020 Land Resource Management Plan adopted in 1996.  The purpose would 
be to select data, projections and goals as adopted in the 2020 Plan and compare them to 
the most recent data available.  Staff will work with RPC members and other County 
Departments involved in the Kane County Planning Cooperative to select relevant data, 
projections and goals to compare and share with the Kane County Board and other units of 
local government. 
 
Data could include; population, employment, households, open space, total number of 
municipalities, total area in municipal boundaries, transportation data, health data, etc.   
 
The above information could be compiled in the form of a report and/or in graphic form. 



 2 

 
Item 2: Draft a report to the Kane County Board recommending an update to the 2040 
Conceptual Land Use Strategy to the year 2050.   
 
Staff recommends that the majority of time and effort in the next twelve months be dedicated 
to drafting a report and a new map updating the 2040 Conceptual Land Use Strategy. 
 
Staff also recommends that the report and update consider the following topics: 
 

1. Add economic development to the existing integration of health, transportation 
and land use, which were adopted into the 2040 Conceptual Land Use Strategy, 
the 2040 Plan and the Kane County Planning Cooperative. 
 
a. The traditional professional work of economic development and planning are 

increasingly being coordinated and converging. 
 

b. Agriculture in general and local food production are important economic activities 
as well as significant for land use and community health. 
 

c. Kane County ranks as the 6th healthiest in Illinois in health outcomes, according to 
the annual County Health Rankings, released March 14th by the Robert Wood 
Johnson Foundation (RWJF) and the University of Wisconsin Population Health 
Institute (UWPHI). The Rankings make it clear that good health is influenced by 
many factors beyond medical care including housing, education, jobs, access to 
healthy foods, and more. 
 

d. When  Kane  County  embarked  on  the current  County  Health  Improvement  
Plan  process,  stakeholders  from  across  the community  formed  action  teams  
to  address  the  three  health priorities  emerging  from  the  assessment:  chronic  
disease, behavioral health, and income and education. 
 

e. Kane County is a primary partner in the initiative to have the Fox River designated 
as a National Water Trail by the U.S. National Park Service.  The Fabulous Fox 
Water Trail project represents a significant marketing and tourism initiative with a 
large impact on Kane County due to our proximity to Chicago. 
 

2. Reevaluate the three areas defined in the 2040 Conceptual Land Use Strategy 
and Map in respect to current and future planning, environmental and economic 
issues.  
 
a. The three areas identified in the Conceptual Land Use Strategy have served Kane 

County well over the past 25 years.  The areas and the maps have been 
reevaluated by the Regional Planning Commission as part of the process for each 
update, those being from 2020 to 2030, and from 2030 to 2040.  The report may 
include a description of the methodology applied in reviewing and potentially 
modifying the land use corridors and features defined in the 2040 Conceptual Land 
Use Strategy Map.  
 



 3 

 
 

b. When the 2020 Conceptual Land Use Strategy was adopted in 1994, the 
delineation between agricultural, environmental and urban land uses were more 
defined.  Now that we have reached the year 2020, communities have embraced 
urban agriculture and local foods, farmers have recognized that soil conservation 
and other environmental practices are beneficial to agriculture and 
environmentalists have recognized that farmland helps mitigate climate change. 
 
 
Requested Action: 
 
Staff requests that the Regional Planning Commission discuss the above and 
develop a consensus for staff to proceed with all or any of the above activities 
and/or add any additional items to the proposed work plan for the year 2020. 



Kane County Development & Community  

Services Department 
 

Planning & Special Projects Division 

Monthly Report – December 2019 
 

In addition to regular on-going activities, the following are highlights of regional land, agriculture and other 

Planning Division activities of the past month. 

 

 

Rural Structures Survey 

 Tim Mescher is scanning the microfiche of the Rural Structure Survey cards so the data can be entered into 
the GIS system. About 50% of the 749 sheets have been scanned into the system thus far.  

 
JJC Farm to School Program 

 On November 14th Matt Tansley assisted in leading a team meeting with Farm to School Program 
Coordinator, Ricki Chaidez, to assess the performance of the 2019 Farm to School gardening and 
curriculum activities at the Kane County Juvenile Justice Center. The project team recapped program 
highlights and challenges of the past year, and brainstormed improvements and investments to be made in 
2020.  

 
Chicago Region Trees Initiative 

 Dec. 10th, Karen Miller assisted in leading the Trees & Green Infrastructure Work Group and participated 
in the annual Partner Recognition event on Dec. 11th. 

 
Illinois Farm to School Network  

 Matt Tansley participated in a conference call discussion on November 25th with Illinois Farm to School 
Network staff to review the launch of a new grant program benefitting Kane County area schools. The 
program would give schools the opportunity to apply for grants to cover the cost of food prep supplies and 
other kitchen equipment needed for scratch cooking. The program will be administered by Kane County 
and the Illinois Farm to School Network, and sponsored by the Food:Land:Opportunity initiative. 

 
Aurora Promoting Partnership Breakfast 

 Chris Toth attended this breakfast on December 4th. Local business owners were invited to join city and 
county staff to learn about different economic resources and assistance available to them. 

 
U-46 Farm to School Program 

 On November 26th, Matt Tansley held a discussion with the U-46 School District’s Food and Nutrition 

Services staff to discuss collaboration on a series of upcoming grant applications that would support the 

expansion of the district’s Growing Green Garden and related curriculum activities.  


	RPC Agenda 1-8-20
	RPC Meeting Minutes 7-10-19
	PASMEMO-2017-01-02
	2020 Work Plan and 2050 CLUS
	Planning Division Staff Report - December 2019

